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NATIONAL ASSEMBLY
OFFICIAL REPORT

Tuesday, 25th April, 1995

The House met at 2.30 pm.

[Mr. Speaker in the Chair]

PRAYERS
NOTICES OF MOTIONS
ESTABLISHMENT OF NATIONAL POLYTECHNICS

Mr. Mak'Onyango: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | beg to give natice of the following Motion:-

THAT, bearing in mind the crucial role science and technology play in the social-economic
development of a country, this House resolves that there be established in each of the provinces,
especially where none exist at present, a full-fledged national polytechnic to offer scientific
training and education to many of the Kenyan youths who drop out after the Kenya Certificate of
Secondary Education.

ESTABLISHMENT OF AN OMBUDSMAN

Mr. Raila: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | beg to give notice of the following Motion:-

THAT, in view of the fact that the Government is committed to the principles of transparency,
accountability and good governance in the management of public affairs; and considering the
high and egregious levels of corruption, tribalism and nepotism currently rampant in our
society; this House urges the Government to establish the office of the ombudsman with
autonomy and strength to check these vices.

ORAL ANSWERS TO QUESTIONS
Question No.22
RECLAMATION OF YALA SWAMP

Mr. Mak'Onyango asked the Minister for Agriculture, Livestock Development and Marketing:-

(&) when the 14,000 hectares of reclaimable land under the Yala Swamp in Alego/Usonga will

be reclaimed; and,

(b) since this project was supposed to have been completed by either late 1970s or early 1980s,

what has caused the delay.

The Minister for Agriculture, Livestock Development and Marketing (Mr. Nyachae): Mr. Speaker,
Sir, | beg to reply.

(@) At the time of implementation the final designs, bills of quantities and tender documents for
reclaiming works of the Yala Swamp in 1984, the cost was estimated at Kshs251,300,000. Today, the same
works are estimated to cost Kshs750 million. This is due to escalation of costs. Out of the 14,000 hectares
earmarked for reclamation, some 2,300 hectares referred to as Area I, which required rehabilitation works, had
already been reclaimed in 1979 and are, in fact, being utilised for food production by farmers and also for seed
bulking by the Lake Basin Development Authority (LBDA). The area referred to as Area Il, measuring 9,200
hectares, is to be reclaimed by gravity while another 3,500 hectares, known as Area Ill, is to be reclaimed by
pumping when funds are secured.

(b) This project has since been taken over by the LBDA as implementors of the construction, who are,
indeed, ready to see it completed as soon as the required funds are approved and released for this purpose.

Mr. Mak'Onyango: Mr. Speaker, Sir, would the Minister agree with me that, had this work been
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completed at the appointed time, this country would have realised, perhaps, 100 times the Kshs750 million now
required to complete it?

Mr. Nyachae: Mr.Speaker, Sir, | do not dispute what the hon. Member is saying. Had funds been
found at that time and the project carried out, it would have been much cheaper and a lot of savings would have
been effected.

Mr. Raila: Mr. Speaker, Sir, the feasibility study for the entire 14,000 hectares was done at the very
same time, that is for phases I, Il and Ill. Why was it necessary for the Government to pay the cost of feasibility
study more than 15 years ago when funds for its development were not available? Would the Minister agree with
me that had this project been put under the Kerio Valley Development Authority, funds would have been available
for its development a long time ago?

Mr. Nyachae: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | agree with the hon. Member that funds should have been found at
that time, but they were not found. However, | am not in a position to say what would have happened had the
project been put elsewhere. | am talking about a project in Nyanza and not in Kerio Valley, and | am giving the
factual position as it is now. 1 do not think that we are going too far by going back into the history 15 years ago.
I have given the position as it is now and, | think the best thing is for us to find ways of proceeding and carrying
out the project.

Mr. Mak'Onyango: Mr. Speaker, Sir, would the Minister agree with me that he misled this House
when he said that no funds have been found when it is a known fact that the Dutch Government, following an
agreement entered between them and the Kenya Government sometime in 1979, had agreed to provide to the
Kenya Government a sum to the tune of Kshs850 million to facilitate this project?

Mr. Nyachae: As | have said, there have been various discussions and various plans were worked out.
But we have had problems of implementation as well. It is true that negotiations with the Dutch Government
went on until it reached a stage where it was to be decided as to who would be the implementor and what time the
project was supposed to be handed over to the Lake Basin Development Authority. It was not quite clear whether
it was taken over or not, according to my files. All I can say now is that we want to do something about what did
not happen and get the project moving.

Question No.171
BENEFICIARIES OF SCHOLARSHIPS
Mr. Speaker: This Question is deferred.
(Question deferred)
Mr. Speaker: Next Question, Mr. Mwiraria!
Question No.125
NUMBER OF TEACHERS AND PUPILS
Mr. Mwiraria asked the Minister for Education to give a table showing the following:-
(&) The number of primary school teachers in each district and municipality in Kenya;
(b) The number of primary school pupils in each district and municipality; and,
(c) The pupil-teacher ratio of each.
(Mr. Mwamzandi stood up in his place)
Mr. Speaker: What is it, hon. Mwamzandi?
The Assistant Minister for Public Works and Housing (Mr. Mwamzandi): Mr. Speaker Sir, you have
"jumped" to Question No.125.
Mr. Speaker: | did not "jump”! I deferred Question No.171. Were you with us?

The Assistant Minister for Public Works and Housing (Mr. Mwamzandi): Mr. Speaker, Sir, | beg to
give the following reply---
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(Laughter)

Mr. Speaker: Order! Order! Just for the benefit of hon. Mwamzandi, Question No0.171 has been
deferred. We are now on Question No0.125. Is there anybody here from the Ministry of Education?

The Assistant Minister for Education (Mr. Lengees): Thank you, Mr. Speaker Sir, for sorting out that
confusion. 1 beg to reply.

The number of primary teachers, pupils and the pupil-teacher ratio in each district and municipality is
contained in the table which | have the pleasure to lay on the Table.

(Mr. Lengees laid the table on the Table)

Mr. Mwiraria: Mr. Speaker, Sir, let me first of all thank the Assistant Minister for providing the
detailed information, but having said that, looking through these figures, I am reminded of an airline negotiator
who once said that statistics are like a bikinis, they cover the most vital organs which may be of interest.

Surely, 1 am not being obscene, but in this case, the way the statistics have been presented, other than
showing the fact that each teacher in Baringo has 16 children whereas each teacher in Kisumu Municipality has
40 children, one wonders whether there is a co-relation between the performance of the students in primary
schools in the KCPE and the teacher-pupil ratio. | would like the Assistant Minister to comment on that because
it is really what I wanted to see come out of these statistics.

Mr. Lengees: Mr. Speaker, Sir---

Mr. Salatt: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir.  We will be unable to follow this Question given the
fact that we do not have the reply available to the House. The Assistant Minister has only tabled a list, so how do
we ask supplementary Questions? It appears that the Question and the answer will be between the Assistant
Minister and the Member who asked the Question, only.

An hon. Member: He can read it to us!

Mr. Speaker: | have no time to give Mr. Lengees to read the whole list because it is very long. The
most fair way of dealing with the issue is for him to table it, like he has done. Any Member may not revisit that
issue. Mr. Salatt, | do appreciate your problem. Of course, you are unable to participate fully as you would like,
but those are some of the hazards that come along our way. | am sorry about it.

Mr. Mwaura: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. | agree with what you have said, but | would
have thought that the Assistant Minister could at least indicate the number of teachers in the whole country and
other figures without going into details. Without that, we are at a loss.

Mr. Speaker: That is a fair request. We can know how many millions of teachers and pupils we have
and other things like that.

Mr. Lengees: Mr. Speaker, Sir, the whole information regarding the staffing of Kenyan schools is in
this table. If the Members wish to see how many teachers we have in the country and each district, they should
refer to the table I laid here.

Prof. Rashid Mzee: Mr. Speaker, Sir, with these statistics that have been presented and tabled in this
House, I can now see why Mombasa district is performing very poorly in examinations. The teacher-pupil ratio is
one of the lowest: One teacher to 43 pupils, as compared to, for example, Baringo which has a ratio of one to 16.

Can the Assistant Minister explain why Mombasa district has the lowest teacher-pupil ratio of one to 43?

Mr. Lengees: Mr. Speaker, Sir, it is difficult for me to tell the hon. Member who has just asked the
supplementary question why Mombasa has the lowest teacher-pupil ratio. In reference to the number of teachers in
the whole country, | would like to state that we have 1,239,798 teachers.

Mr. Nthenge: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. The Assistant Minister has not even attempted to
answer Prof. Mzee's supplementary question. His question was: Why should Mombasa district have one teacher
for 43 pupils while Baringo district has 16 pupils per one teacher?

Mr. Lengees: Mr. Speaker, Sir, this is as per the enrolment in each particular area.

Mr. Rotino: Mr. Speaker, Sir, is the Assistant Minister aware that last year, more than 100 teachers of
Pokot origin were taken to Turkana District while Pokot District has a shortage of teachers? If he is aware of
that, when is he prepared to bring those teachers back? We have a problem of shortage of teachers.

Mr. Lengees: Mr. Speaker, Sir, that is a different question.

Mr. Ruhiu: Mr. Speaker, Sir, since the Assistant Minister has had time to read the whole schedule, can
he tell this House how many primary school teachers there are in Nairobi Province?

Mr. Speaker: But the figures are given on the table, Mr. Ruhiu!



556 PARLIAMENTARY DEBATES April 25, 1995

An hon. Member: But we have not seen the table!

Mr. Lengees: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | think | can tell him that. We have 4,639 teachers in Nairobi
Province.

Mr. Mwiraria: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | asked the Assistant Minister whether there is a co-relation between
the teacher-pupil ratio and the performance in examination. | have not received an answer. Hon. Prof. Mzee
has, in fact, said that Mombasa performs poorly because each teacher has got to teach too many children. But
what is even more important is that these figures hide the fact that some of the classes in my constituency have as
many as from 50 to 56 children to one teacher. So what is the Ministry doing to correct this very unfair
imbalance?

Mr. Lengees: Mr. Speaker Sir, there is no ratio.

Bishop Kimani: On a Point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. | think the hon. Assistant Minister is misleading
this House because it is recently we were told that "dirty politics have bad examination results and good politics
good results". The ratio used is very ridiculous and misleading because a teacher in a particular school only
teaches 16 students whereas in another area a teacher has only three or 50. He should answer the questions and
tell us the reasons for these imbalances.

Mr. Lengees: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | think the answer for this Question has been given in this document.
We cannot be able to give more than that.

Mr. Nthenge: On a point of order Mr. Speaker, Sir.

Mr. Speaker: Order, Mr. Nthenge. | know that hon. Members are interested in this Question. But
nevertheless, we still have a lot of other Questions pending. 1 think the time for that Question is over.

Mr. Nthenge: Mr. Speaker, the hon. Assistant Minister has used some words which should not be used
here.

Mr. Speaker: Mr. Nthenge, which one?

Mr. Nthenge: Mr. Speaker Sir, he has used the words "I think". Since he knows the facts why is he
now using the phrase "I think?" How can we accept an answer from an Assistant Minister when he does not
know the facts regarding that answer?

Mr. Speaker: | suppose you have to think to answer!

Question No.165
PAYMENT OF WILDLIFE COMPENSATION

Mr. Speaker: Is Mr. Nyagah nor here? We will leave his Question until the end. Let us move on to
the next Question.

Question No.138
ABUSE OF CODE OF ETHICS

Mr. Galgalo asked the Minister for Health:-

() if he is aware that the Medical Officer of Health in Moyale is abusing the Code of Medical

Ethics by refusing to attend to patients;

(b) if he is further aware that this officer is operating a private clinic and patients are referred

there and medical kits for the hospital are being misdirected even when supplies are made

available by the Government; and,

(c) what steps he is taking to rectify the situation.

The Assistant Minister for Health (Mr. Criticos): Mr. Speaker, Sir, | beg to reply.

(&) 1 am not aware that the Medical Officer of Health in Moyale is abusing the Code of Medical Ethics
by refusing to attend to patients. Those doctors are seeing patients on routine basis.

(b) I am not aware that any of the two doctors in Moyale Hospital, Dr. Peter Ndegwa and Dr. Ali
Abdulahi lbrahim are operating private clinics; neither, are they directing any medical kits for the hospitals
elsewhere.

Investigations carried out by our Ministry have revealed that none of the two doctors runs any private
clinic in Moyale, and no Government of Kenya drugs or any other medical equipment were found in any of the
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private clinics operating in Moyale.

(c) Ihave already instituted investigations which have revealed that the hospital is running normally. |
am requesting the hon. Member to report any case of theft of medical kits that he might be aware of to relevant
authorities for relevant investigations.

Mr. Galgalo: Mr. Speaker, Sir, on behalf of Moyale people, | would like to express my appreciation of
the services rendered by Dr. Ndegwa. | met the Medical officer in charge of Moyale Sub-district Hospital who
confirmed to me that Dr. Ali Abdulahi lbrahim owns a private clinic. There is a probability that this clinic is not
registered under Dr. Ali Abdulahi Ibrahim's name. But | am telling the Assistant Minister here now that Dr. Ali
Abdulahi owns a clinic and runs it together with his senior Clinical Officer in the same District Hospital.

Mr. Speaker, Sir, towards the end of last year, Mr. Abdulahi Aden, one of my constituents, lost his two
sons after the nurses had sent for the doctor and the doctor refused to come. After this, he went to the doctor's
house to find out why he had refused to come and attend to the sick children. Instead, the father of the sick
children was told that he was uncivilised and that is why he knocked on the doctor's door. Since then, the doctor
has not rendered satisfactory services to many people in Moyale at this hospital and the people have lost
confidence in him. Can the Assistant Minister transfer him elsewhere with immediate effect and take necessary
action to investigate the issues that I have raised?

Mr. Criticos: Mr. Speaker, Sir, the Government cannot do that because in the Ministry, we cannot get
involved with inter-clan rivalry, and the hon. Member knows what | am talking about.

Mr. Ndicho: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir.

Mr. Salat: Mr. Speaker,Sir, the Assistant Minister has talked of inter-clan rivalry, and here we are
talking about a Medical Officer of Health misusing his office and he even goes further to say that the hon. Member
knows what he is talking about. However, this House does not know that. So, can we know what the inter-clan
rivalry is all about?

Mr. Speaker: Mr. Criticos, what is that?

Mr. Criticos: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | would not want to embarrass hon. Galgalo. However, since the issue
is before this House, let me say that on carrying out thorough investigations on this serious allegation against our
two officers for having misused drugs and also for having refused to attend to patients, we found out that the
hon.Member and Dr. Ibrahim are having an internal problem. Dr.Ali Abdulahi lbrahim being Somali and the
hon. Member being a Boran, they do not see eye to eye.

(Loud consultations)

Mr. Galgalo: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. Is it in order for the hon. Assistant Minister to
impute an improper motive against me as a fellow hon.Member? | have asked a question with regard to this
doctor and nothing to do with clanism or tribalism.

Mr. Speaker: Well, I think we have put him into trouble through hon. Salat. He tried to avoid that
situation.

Mr. Galgalo: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | think the Assistant Minister had indicated that there is clanism problem
which | would like to refute. | would like to inform the Assistant Minister that | am not a tribalist, but an hon.
Member of Parliament for Moyale. Can he substantiate his allegation?

Mr. Ndicho: Mr. Speaker, Sir, we are begging your intervention on these matters because when we
direct a Question to the Ministry or Health, the Question is taken down to the hospitals and the persons who
answer these Questions are the Medical Officers of Health. If the Medical Officer of Health (MOH) is operating a
clinic next to a Hospital, there is no way that he is going to give a satisfactory answer. He will only give an
answer that defends his activities.

Mr. Criticos: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | am not aware of what hon. Ndicho has said. However, for the
information of the hon. Member, the investigations were carried out by the Provincial Medical Officer of Health
and not the Medical Officer of Health. Also the Drugs Inspectorate Department investigated the loss of drugs at
the Hospital.

Mr. Gagallo: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. Is the hon. Assistant Minister in order to impute
an improper motive on me? | have asked this Question as the Member of Parliament representing Moyale
Constituency and there is no war going on between the Somalis and the Boran in Moyale. Could he substantiate
his allegation that there is clan war in that place?

Mr. Criticos: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | was giving the hon. Member and the House as a whole the results of
our investigations. | did not talk about clashes; | said there is rivalry between the two groups of people; or you
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can say there is a personality clash.
Question No.139
ALLOTMENT OF GOVERNMENT HOUSES
Mr. Speaker: Prof. Anyang Nyong'o not here? Next Question.
Question No.12
SETTLEMENT OF THE LANDLESS

Mr. Mwaura asked the Minister for Lands and Settlement:-

(@) whether he is aware of the landless families who have settled along the railway-line at

Kaharati Location (17) Murang'a District; and

(b) whether the Government could consider settling those families anywhere within Murang'a

District where there might be Government land.

The Assistant Minister for Lands and Settlement (Mr. Khaniri): Mr. Speaker, Sir, | beg to reply.

(&) 1am not aware of landless families who have settled along the railway line at Kaharati Location (17)
in Murang'a District as my Ministry has no record of the families.

(b) If the said families need land, they should submit their applications in the normal way to the District
Plots Selection Committee for consideration whenever land becomes available. The Committee is chaired by the
local District Commissioner and the other members include the following:-

District Land Adjudication and Settlement Officer who is the Secretary; the District Agricultural Officer,
County Council Chairman and the District KANU Chairman.

Mr. Mwaura: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | am surprised by the answer given by the Assistant Minister because
this would suggest that the Ministry did not carry out proper investigations into this matter. As far as | know,
there about 40 families who have been living along Kaharati railway line and if the Ministry had done proper
investigations, they would have given me a positive answer. The Committee has a list of landless people in that
area.

Mr. Khaniri: Mr. Speaker, Sir, the land on which these people have settled belongs to the Kenya
Railways Corporation; it is private land and my Ministry has nothing to do with private land.

Dr. Lwali-Oyondi: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. Is the Assistant Minister in order to mislead
this House? In his reply he said that he is not aware of anybody who has settled on that land but now, he is telling
the House that those people have settled on private land and that his Ministry has nothing to do with private land.

Mr. Khaniri: Mr. Speaker, Sir, from the hon. Member's Question, it looks like these people have settled
on private land which belongs to the Kenya Railways Corporation.

Dr. Kituyi: Mr. Speaker, Sir, arising from the written reply given by the Assistant Minister, he said that
he is not aware that such families exist because he does not have a list of their names in the Ministry. Does the
existence of landless families in a given location depend on objective reality or on the presence of a list in the
Ministry?

Mr. Khaniri: Mr. Speaker, Sir, my Ministry does not keep a record of people who have settled on land
which is not theirs. But---

Dr. Kituyi: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir.

Mr. Khaniri: Just a moment! | am answering your question!

Dr. Kituyi: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir.

Mr. Speaker: What is it?

Dr. Kituyi: Is the hon. Assistant Minister in order to disguise his inability to understand a clear
question by filibustering with irrelevancies? In the view of his Ministry, does existence of landless families on
land near a railway line depend on the objective existence out there or on the presence of a list of names in his
Ministry? Could he just answer that supplementary question?

Mr. Khaniri: | was in the process of answering that question when you interrupted me. | was saying
that my office does not keep a list of the landless people in the country. But when a Question is asked about a
particular area, we normally carry out investigations.

Prof. Mzee: Mr. Speaker, Sir, in the present era of pluralism, could the Assistant Minister assure the
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House that the composition of District Land Allocation Committees will be looked into with a view to removing
the KANU chairmen from those committees?

Mr. Khaniri: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | have given the current composition of District Land Selection
Committees.

Mr. Mwaura: The Assistant Minister agrees that those people have settled on land belonging to the
Kenya Railways Corporation. This means that the Assistant Minister agrees with me that these are landless
people whom the Government should settle elsewhere. Could the Assistant Minister assure this House that those
people will be settled on Government land?

Mr. Khaniri: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | think I have already answered that question. If these people need
land, they should apply to the right Committee for consideration.

Question No.132
REMOVAL OF TRANSFORMER
Mr. Speaker: Mr. Ogeka's Question will be deferred.
(Question deferred)
Question No.169
COMPLETION OF CHEMOSIT-KISII ROAD

Mr. Speaker: Mr. Anyona not here? Next Question

Question N0.89

EXPANSION OF BUS STAGE

Mr. Gitonga asked the Minister for Public Works and Housing how much money was spent

during the expansion of Kimende Bus Stage on the Nairobi-Nakuru Highway.

The Assistant Minister for Public Works and Housing (Mr. Mwamzandi): Mr. Speaker, Sir, | beg to
give the following reply.

A total of Kshs145,000 was spent on the expansion of Kimende Bus Stage.

Mr. Gitonga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, Kimende Bus Stage on the Nairobi-Nakuru Highway has been an
accident black spot for a long time and very many lives have been lost on that spot. In an earlier answer to a
Question regarding this particular Bus Stage, the same Assistant Minister answered as follows:-

"The major action to be taken will include enlarging the bus stage and installing the necessary

traffic and road signs and fencing the roadside to restrict pedestrians to one crossing point."”

Mr. Speaker, Sir, a very shoddy job has been done in expanding this particular bus stage. No traffic road
signs have been installed there. Also no fencing has been done. Is the Assistant Minister satisfied that the
amount spent can be justified?

Mr. Mwamzandi: Mr. Speaker, Sir, we had to do what was necessary. We have not said that we have
completed the work. The Ministry will go ahead and complete the remaining portion of the work.

Dr. Lwali-Oyondi: Mr. Speaker, Sir, arising from the answer by the Assistant Minister, and in view of
the fact that I have just arrived from Nakuru and | have seen an accident involving a matatu and a Toyota saloon
car at this particular spot because the road is very narrow--- | am almost certain that somebody is either dead or
very seriously injured, could the Assistant Minister expand that bus stage, so that buses and matatus can be parked
without interfering with other road users? Could he just do that to save Kenyans' lives?

Mr. Mwamzandi: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | hope our drivers take a little more care when they are on the
roads, but I said the Ministry will see to it that more is done on this area.

Mr. Ndicho: Mr. Speaker, Sir, can the Assistant Minister assure this House that the money being spent
by the Government for this public works, there is going to be an inspectorate unit to go and inspect that work
because the money is being spent and the work is very shoddy and uncompleted. Like this particular stage, the
work is not completed now and Kshs.145,000 is already spent. Can the Assistant Minister tell us whether there is
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going to be a follow-up that this particular job is going to be completed to justify this amount of money?

Mr. Mwamzandi: Mr. Speaker, Sir, the Ministry follows up what is being done in a project. In any
case, there is also the Office of the Controller and Auditor-General which follows such allocations.

Mr. Speaker: 1 will give the last chance to Mr. Gitonga.

Mr. Gitonga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, since the Assistant Minister himself appears to admit that they had not
completed the works, as he outlined in an earlier answer, can he assure this House that the Ministry will go back
and complete the work properly?

Mr. Mwamzandi: We will find out, Mr. Speaker, Sir, what is remaining and then we will check the
obligations that must be done.

Mr. Speaker: Mr. Nyagah's Question for the second time.

Question No.165
PAYMENT OF WILDLIFE COMPENSATION
Mr. Speaker: Is Mr. Nyagah still not here? We shall defer his Question.
(Question deferred)

Mr. Speaker: Prof. Anyang'-Nyong'o's Question for the second time.
Prof. Anyang'-Nyong'o: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | sincerely apologise for coming late when this Question was
called the first time. 1 was on the road from Kisumu Rural.

Question No.139
ALLOCATION OF GOVERNMENT HOUSES

Prof. Anyang'-Nyong'o asked the Minister for Lands and Settlement:-

a) whether the Minister could tell the House how many government plots and houses in Upper

Hill and Kileleshwa (Nairobi) and Milimani (Kisumu) have been allocated to individuals since

1990 and who these individuals are; and

b) whether the Minister could also tell the House how many of these houses so allocated were

condemned as unfit for human habitation.

The Minister for Lands and Settlement (Mr. Mulinge): Mr. Speaker, Sir, | beg to reply.

(&) The Government has been allocating plots since 1963 under the provisions of the Government Lands
Act and the copies of these allocations have been circulated to the Administration and the Local Authorities for
information. The Act, however, has not been amended to-date and if the hon. Member is interested in a
particular case, then he is free to carry out an official search in the Lands Registry. | do not understand why the
hon. Member has picked the period from 1990 upto the present time, yet allocation of plots has been going on
since Independence.

(b) The Ministry does not allocate houses but plots and once a plot with a Government house is
allocated, the relevant Ministry is informed to carry out the necessary inspection in accordance with the
established procedures.

Prof. Anyang'-Nyong'o: Mr. Speaker, Sir, you do realise that the hon. Minister has not answered the
Question, because the Question says quite clearly, "Can the Minister tell the House how many Government plots
and houses in Upper Hill and Kileleshwa, Nairobi and Milimani in Kisumu have been allocated to individuals
since 1990, and who these individuals are?". The answer by the Minister is simply an excuse not to answer that
Question. Is he in order to avoid answering the Question and give an excuse for not answering?

Mr. Mulinge: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | am prepared to answer this Question, but there are many plots which
have been allocated between the periods in question. If the hon. Member has a particular case which he thinks
was allocated illegally, then he should quote that one and I will answer.

Mr. Nthenge: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. These are specified cases. We are not saying
Kenya. The Question specifies a place and the period. So it is specific. What other specification does he want?
There are not million of plots in Kileleshwa.

Mr. Mulinge: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | have said there are many of them.
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Mr. Omino: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. Clearly, the Minister does not wish to answer this
Question because he knows that he is at fault. Questions once asked must be answered appropriately. Can you
now compel him to answer this Question as asked? If he wants to answer another Question, he can ask it himself,
but he should answer this one as it has been asked.

Mr. Mulinge: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | have already answered this Question.

Mr. Speaker: Mr. Orengo, the Floor is yours.

Mr. Mulusya: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker.

Mr. Speaker: Order, Mr. Mulusya. | have already given somebody a chance. Order, Mr. Mulusya!
This is Question time.

Mr. Orengo: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | find the period mentioned in so far as this Question is concerned to be
very important. Between 1989 and 1990, the late Dr. Ouko was making enquiries concerning illegal allocation of
plots in Kisumu, and two months thereafter, he was dead. Since then, we are interested in knowing how many
other plots have been allocated
since the late Dr. Ouko was killed or whether the Minister is getting the message that people are concerned about
illegal allocation of Government plots to individuals.

Mr. Mulinge: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | did say that if the hon. Member has a particular case like that one of
the late Dr. Ouko, you better say so, and then | will give you the right answer. The number of the plots allocated
in Kisumu and Nairobi are many, and unless the hon. Member proves that the allocation was done illegally---

(Loud consultations)

An Hon. Member: Sit down, Mr. Minister!

Mr. Speaker: Order! Order!. If you insist that he sits down, who will answer your Question?

Mr. Murungi: Mr. Speaker, Sir, it is quite clear that the Minister does not understand the Question
which has been put to him, which is this one: one,"how many Government plots?" So it is one, two, three, four or
five.

(Applause)

2. "How many Houses?" One, two, three, four or five. Then you go in the same way for Upper Hill, Kileleshwa
and the same way for Milimani, Kisumu. Then when you finish that, you answer who are the individuals who
have been allocated these plots, for example, Onyango, Mwangi or anybody like that.

(Applause)
So, Mr. Speaker, Sir, this is the way the Minister is required to answer this Question.
(Laughter)

Mr. Speaker: Order! It is quite disorderly for an hon. Member whose point of information has been
rejected to try and give it through the back-door. Hon. Members must respect this House and if your point of
information has been rejected by the hon. Member on the Floor, you have no alternative but to sit down with your
information and keep it to yourself. Proceed Mr. Mulinge.

Gen. Mulinge: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | do understand the Question and | do not need any further information.

I have informed the House that many houses have been allocated and if any of them has been illegally allocated, I
would ask the hon. Member to give me the relevant details and I will look into the case.

Prof. Onyang'-Nyong'o: Mr. Speaker, Sir, you do realize that the House is very much concerned about
this question and indeed when Members of Parliament met the Provincial Commissioner in Kisumu yesterday, this
question did come up and the Provincial Commissioner expressed concern about the rate at which these plots and
houses are being allocated to the detriment of the interest of the civil servants. This Government must be
concerned about the interests of its own civil servants. However when we put a question like this to the Minister
and he deliberately refuses to answer it, could you, Mr. Speaker, Sir, assist us by compelling the Minister bring an
adequate answer to the House?

Gen. Mulinge: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | think | have adequately answered that question.

Mr. Speaker: For a second time, can we move to---
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Hon. Members: No! No! No!

Mr. Speaker: Order! Order hon. Members! You must know that it is not the business of the Chair to
direct an hon. Member what Question to ask and how to ask it, nor is it the business of the Chair to tell a Minister
of this Government how to answer a Question. Any hon. Member who is aggrieved by the way a particular
Question has been answered in this House knows the procedure to follow. You know there exists Standing Orders
No.17 and 18 which direct you what to do under such circumstances. However, we are not going to spend the
whole day on one Question.

Mr. Orengo: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. At least, | think the Chair should protect and
safeguard the dignity of this House. If the House is allowed to be used as a chatter-box, then the Constitutional
responsibility of this House cannot be met. So, if a valid Question is put to the Government and an adequate
answer is not given to that Question, surely, it falls on the Speaker to demand that an adequate answer be given to
that Question. There is precedence for this in the HANSARD of other Parliaments where a Minister who fails to
answer a Question adequately, the Speaker can demand that the Minister answers the Question adequately and this
has been done before.

Mr. Speaker: Order! | think with all fairness to Mr. Orengo, | think he is, as a matter of fact,
misleading the House because it is not the business of the Chair to know what is or what is not an adequate
answer. The proper judge is the House and not the Chair. There is, in fact, a provision in our Standing Orders 17
or 18 which allows an hon. Member who is aggrieved by a reply he has received to move a Motion for
Adjournment in this House to discuss that particular Question. That avenue is open, and therefore, if the Speaker
directs hon. Members on how to ask questions, then that Standing Order would be irrelevant. Therefore, if the
hon. Anyang'-Nyong'o, or any other hon. Member is not satisfied with the answer given by a Government
Minister, he can proceed under Standing Order No.17 to have the matter discussed further in this House under a
Motion for Adjournment.

Dr. Otieno-Kopiyo: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir---

Mr. Speaker: Not on that issue, Dr. Otieno-Kopiyo!

Dr. Otieno-Kopiyo: | am not standing on that issue but on Standing Order No.17 to say that last year,
there were Motions for Adjournment touching on very important issues, which were submitted by hon. Members,
but up to now, those Motions have not come before the House. What are we supposed to do then?

Mr. Speaker: Order Dr. Otieno-Kopiyo! 1 think I told you last week that sometimes, you just rise on a
point of order and make a very serious claim which you cannot substantiate, for benefit only known to God. As
an hon.Member, you should go back to the HANSARD to find out if there were, indeed, Motions for the
Adjournment that did come before this House. You must understand that the Standing Orders only allow one
Motion for Adjournment to discuss such Question, per week and there is nothing more the Chair can do to enlarge
the week. Next Question!

Mr. Michuki: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. Mr. Speaker, Sir, | am rising on a point of order to
seek your guidance regarding the refusal to answer a legitimate Question by a Government Minister in this House.

Under Standing Order No.88, such conduct of a Minister should be declared disorderly. Can you, Sir, give us
some guidance on this?

Mr. Speaker: Shall we move on to Questions by Private Notice.

QUESTIONS BY PRIVATE NOTICE
DELAY IN RECEIVING PRESIDENT MANDELA

Dr. Ombaka: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | beg to ask the Minister for Foreign Affairs and International
Co-operation the following Question by Private Notice:-

Why did Kenya Government officials delay in receiving State President H.E. Nelson Mandela of the
Republic of South Africa when in transit at the Jomo Kenyatta International Airport on April 8, 1995 and failed to
receive Foreign Minister Mr. Alfred Nzo of the same country on April 11, 1995 at the same Airport.

The Assistant Minister for Foreign Affairs and International Co-operation (Mr. Manduku): Mr.
Speaker, Sir, | beg to reply.

Government officials did not delay in meeting the South African Head of State, Mr. Nelson Mandela on
8th April, 1995. President Mandela was on transit at the Jomo Kenyatta International Airport and although the
Presidential plane arrived 30 minutes ahead of the notified time of arrival, the Director of Political Affairs, who
deputises in the absence of the Permanent Secretary, was already at the Airport and escorted President Mandera to
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the Presidential Pavilion. The Minister for Foreign Affairs of South African was met on the 11th April, 1995 on
the arrival by an officer from the Minister passing through the normal protocol requirements.

Dr. Ombaka: Mr. Speaker, Sir, is the Assistant Minister telling this House that the normal protocol or
diplomatic practice is for a Head of State to be met by a departmental head in the Foreign Affairs Ministry?

Dr. Manduku: Mr. Speaker, Sir, if a Head of State is on transit, then there is the limitation as to who
meets him. But in this case, the question of who met him is very clear. He was met by a Minister who was
acting as Minister for Foreign [Dr. Manduku]

Affairs. But the predicament here is that the President's plane arrived 30 minutes before schedule and by the time
of his arrival and on his way to the Presidential Pavilion, the acting Minister for Foreign Affairs arrived and
received him. He took Mr. Mandela to the Presidential Pavilion and escorted him further on his journey.

Mr. Mwaura: Mr. Speaker, Sir, what happened at the airport has caused this country a lot of
embarrassment. Is the Minister aware that during the focus on Africa BBC news, that this matter is being
referred to as "diplomatic goof"? According to protocol worldwide, there must be a standing list of Ministers who
ought to be at the airport at any given time. And for the Minister to come and tell the House that the arrival of
President Mandela was 30 minutes earlier, is no excuse. The Minister should have known before that, the
President was arriving and he should have been there even an hour or two hours earlier. Is he aware of that?

Dr. Manduku: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | do not think we have caused any embarrassment to anybody in this
country because when message comes that a President is arriving at 10 o'clock, it is commonsense that the
Minister receiving him ought to be there just a few minutes to 10 o'clock. In this case, the Minister acting as
Minister for Foreign Affairs arrived there 15 minutes before the scheduled time of the arrival of the plane of the
President.

Dr. Otieno-Kopiyo: Mr. Speaker, Sir, could the Minister declare, on behalf of the Government, what is
the current state of diplomatic relations between the ANC-led Government and the KANU Government?

Dr. Manduku: It is fantastic!

Dr. Kituyi: Mr. Speaker, Sir, assuming that the Minister is correct in claiming that a Minister receiving
a President in transit needs to be there only a few minutes before the scheduled arrival of the honourable guest,
can he explain to the House why this Minister was at the airport two hours before the arrival of President Mandela
on his return trip?

Dr. Manduku: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | do not think that is true. He was there in time before the arrival of
President Mandela.

Mr. Maore: Mr. Speaker, Sir, just following on Dr. Otieno-Kopiyo's question, can the Minister confirm
or deny that the apparent delay was a deliberate attempt to embarrass President Mandela?

Dr. Manduku: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | deny that allegation.

Dr. Ombaka: Mr. Speaker, Sir, can the Minister tell the House what was the rank and name of the
officer who met the Foreign Minister, Mr. Alfred Nzo?

Dr. Manduku: Mr. Speaker, Sir, the officer who met the Foreign Minister is a very senior officer and
head of African Department of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Prof. Mzee: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. The question was very clear. We want to know
the name and rank of the officer who met the Foreign Minister?

Dr. Manduku: Mr. Speaker, Sir, Mr. Kaiga is the Deputy Head of the African Department of the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Mr. Obure: Mr. Speaker, Sir, Kenya is a country that is supposed to maintain its dignity and a country
with a Government. Now, if this Government has failed, is it in order for the Minister to mislead the House?
We know very well that the Minister has already sidelined the Assistant Ministers and put a very junior officer to
come and represent the protocol.

Dr. Manduku: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | think what is important here is for the hon. Member to know the
protocol of receiving guests who are visiting, transiting and so on. So, | think, the two big guests were met
according to protocol.

Mr. Speaker: Next Question, Mr. Maoka Maore.

KILLING OF CONSTABLE KOOME
Mr. Maore: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | beg to ask the Minister of State, Office of the President the following

Question by Private Notice.
(@) Could the Minister give a comprehensive report on the killing of Constable Henry Koome by
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members of the security forces on 3rd April, 1994, in Eastleigh, Nairobi, which was reported to Pangani Police
Station?

(b) Can the Minister state what action he has taken to ensure that justice is done?

(c) Can the Minister undertake to constantly overhaul the staff at Pangani Police Station because they
have been accused of complicity in the frequent robberies in Eastleigh area?

The Assistant Minister, Office of the President (Mr. Awori): Mr. Speaker, Sir, | beg to reply.

(a) Investigations into this matter are still in progress and, therefore, it is not possible for me to give a
comprehensive report at this point in time.

(b) As soon as investigations are complete, appropriate action will be taken in accordance with the
Kenyan law.

(c) My Office has not received any report implicating the staff at Pangani Police Station and, therefore, |
cannot take any action in the absence of evidence to support this allegation.

Mr. Maore: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | did not really ask a question about a comprehensive report, but about
the killings. Now, the Minister wants to run away from answering the question which is likely to put this House
into ridicule where a Minister is challenged to try to cover up an issue that we are asking, the circumstances under
which Constable Koome was killed. Now, since the Minister knows very well that the police he is talking about
did actually pickpocket and rob many people, including the deceased before he was shot dead, and the civilian
witnesses who have already written statements have one man who shot the deceased to death, how long does the
Minister need to sort out and decide to arrest this man and take him to court? We know him by name!

Mr. Awori: Not very long, Mr. Speaker, Sir. The person who was killed happened to be a police
constable on leave and the person who shot him will soon be charged with murder.

Mr. Maore: Mr. Speaker, Sir, what investigations is the Minister talking about? He knows the man
who did it and there are witnesses, including policemen. Who does he need to name Inspector Rono as the man
who did it?

Mr. Awori: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | really do not know what advantage the hon. Member will gain in my
going into details about the investigations. | have just volunteered the information that the person who shot this
constable will soon be charged with murder and a lot of information will come out of the case.

Mr. Mwiraria: Mr. Speaker, Sir, given the fact that the Minister in reply to part (c) of the Question
stated that he is carrying out investigations before he can establish whether policemen are carrying out robberies in
Eastleigh area, could he assure the House that he is not using the same policemen who look after Eastleigh to
carry out these investigations because he will get a negative answer?

Mr. Awori: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | did answer part (c) of the Question that no reports have been received
by us that the policemen at Pangani Police Station are involved in robberies in Eastleigh area.

Mr. Murungi: Mr. Speaker, Sir, constable Henry Koome was shot through the head by a certain
Inspector Rono and he is still at his place of work behaving as if nothing happened. Would the Assistant Minister
inform this House what specific steps he is going to take to make sure that these trigger-happy policemen who
have no regard for human rights in this country are brought to book?

Mr. Awori: Mr. Speaker, Sir, the hon. Member who is an eminent legal person heard me state quite
clearly that Inspector Rono is about to be charged with murder. Murder is a capital offence and, therefore, there
will be no cover-up. The person will meet justice under the Kenyan Law.

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. Is the Assistant Minister in order to treat this
House as if it is a play-acting theatre? When somebody is being charged with murder, it is known and it is
common practice that they are not left alone to sleep in their wives houses. They are first of all arrested and put in
custody and then charged with murder. How dare the Assistant Minister tell this House that! Even hon. Biwott
was first put in! How dare the Assistant Minister tell this House that the man is about to be charged with murder?

Mr. Speaker: Order! Order, hon. Ndwiga! Mr. Biwott was never charged with any murder. You are
totally out of order.

Mr. P. N. Ndwiga: My point of order is that the Assistant Minister is misleading this House. Is he in
order to tell this House that the man is going to be charged with murder and the man is at home and is going to
the office? Really, must he treat this House like a kindergarten?

Mr. Awori: Yes.

Mr. Speaker: The last question, Mr. Raila.

Mr. Raila: Mr. Speaker, Sir, the Assistant Minister has not adequately answered part "c" of the
Question which was asking him whether he could undertake to constantly overhaul the staff at Pangani Police
Station because they have been accused of complicity in the frequent robberies in Eastleigh area. Is he in order
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not to answer that question because a similar situation applies in Kibera where police from Pangani Police Station
constantly commit robberies and rape of residents in that area?

Mr. Awori: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | very adequately answered part "c" of that Question. The police do not
work on hearsay unless there is evidence that police officers from Pangani Police Station have been involved in
robberies in Eastleigh, we certainly cannot take any action.

BILL
Second Reading
THE KENYA REVENUE AUTHROITY BILL
(The Minister for Finance on 20.4.95)
(Resumption of debate interrupted on 20.4.95)

I think we had Mr. Ndwiga on the Floor. Which Ndwiga was on the Floor?

An hon. Member: He was saying nothing. He did not know what he was talking about.

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: | am happy, Mr. Speaker, Sir, to continue my contribution on this [Mr. P.N.
Ndwiga]
Bill. 1 am now better informed than | was on Thursday. | almost supported this Bill on Thursday but after the
events of the weekend, | now have to oppose this Bill. My reason is that we are being asked here to help
consolidate a den of thieves. What is being proposed here is that we put all these institutions under one roof which
is untenable. We know that this Government is acting under pressure from the World Bank and there are certain
things that they should be able to resist. The reason why they are doing all these things is because Uganda has
already established a similar Authority. But our situation is different in Kenya because already, the Income Tax
Department alone is bigger than a few ministries. It is bigger than the establishment in the Ministry of Lands and
Settlement. Indeed, Customs Department is another one. Now, how do you put all these institutions under the
same roof? | find that I have difficulties in supporting this Bill because although the Minister for Finance has done
a good job in the last two years, my heart bleeds for him because most of these things contained in this Bill show
that this Government has no goodwill. The money will be collected but how will it be used? Look at the events of
this weekend. On Sunday, we saw how some of our tax money is being used by policemen. We saw the District
Officer (DO) for Kinangop amassing 100 policemen, all of them carrying tear gas, to harass wananchi. Does this
Government know that the tear gas they use to harass wananchi is bought with their own money? We are being
asked in this House to legitimise the formation of this Authority so that they can effectively collect revenue such as
taxation from wananchi. How is this money being used? We do not see development in this country. There is
none. Indeed, the Government is on record as having said that only Kanu Zones would be developed, while we
know that the majority of tax payers in this country are in the Opposition. | wish to speak briefly on the issue of
misuse of tax money. While we have complained in this House about the misuse of public funds by arms of this
Government, we will continue to castigate this misuse because we, as the tax payers, are seeing things that could
only be read in horror novels. For example, this morning, an hon. Member of this House who should be here, the
hon. Njehu Gatabaki was arrested. Forty policemen went and surrounded his house today. That man is a tax payer
and the only crime the hon. Member seemed to have committed is to publish this magazine for Kenyans to buy
and read.

(The hon. Member displayed a copy
of the Finance Magazine)

When Kenyans buy this magazine there is nothing inside it that is not common knowledge; the succession
problem in Kanu is common knowledge. That there is a letter in this magazine that implicates hon. Nicholas
Biwott to the murder of Ouko is common knowledge. This has been said everywhere.

(Applause)

This is not news. We all have this magazine and everybody here has read it.
Mr. Speaker: Mr. Ndwiga, is what you are saying part of this Bill?
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Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Yes, it is part of it. That is why | am saying that there is misuse of income tax. We
are being asked in this Bill to legalise the constitution of this Revenue Authority which will help this Government
to collect taxes from people and we are saying we know what they do with this money. They harass the same
people who are paying taxes to this Government.

(Foot thumping from Opposition Benches)

Time has come when this House, and this nation, must learn to live with the truth. That, this Government is
bankrupt of ideas, is not news.

Mr. Speaker, Sir, | said earlier that | sympathise with the Minister for Finance. This is because while his
intentions may be good, we are building a pyramid in which a lot of money will be put but somebody else will
come in through the back door and collect it. Yes, the Ministr will be effective in collecting taxes but somebody
will misuse the money. The money which is being collected from the citizens of this country is also being used to
harass the same citizens. At the conclusion of debate on this Bill, we will ask for Division over it and then, we
shall go round those constituencies to tell the people: "Look, your Member of Parliament has been legalising---"

Mr. Ruhiu: On a point of information, Mr. Speaker, Sir. | want to inform hon. Ndwiga that so far,
250 policemen with 25 vehicles have been mobilised to arrest hon. Gatabaki. Surely, this is a waste of tax payers'
money! One or two policemen could be assigned to hon. Gatabaki!

The Assistant Minister for Health (Mr. Mutiso): On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. Could the
hon. Member substantiate beyond any doubt that 250 policemen and - | do not know how many vehicles - have
been mobilised, only to arrest that particular hon. Member? Can he prove that?

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga:  Mr. Speaker, Sir, we are saying---

Mr. Speaker: Order, Mr. Ndwiga! We cannot have both of you standing here. Mr. Mutiso also has a
right to put his point of order. What were you saying, Mr. Mutiso?

The Assistant Minister for Health (Mr. Mutiso): Mr. Speaker, Sir, | am asking my hon. friend to
substantiate that 250 policemen and - | do not know how many vehicles - have been mobilised to arrest hon.
Gatabaki.

Mr. Ruhiu: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | would like to substantiate by saying that when | heard about hon.
Gatabaki's imminent arrest, | drove to his house and saw with my own eyes 250 policemen and 25 cars!

The Assistant Minister for Health (Mr. Mutiso): On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. We are
supposed to be hon. Members and so, any word we utter here must be honourable also. | have a lot of doubts
about the hon. Ruhiu's statement. How can he see 250 policemen at a glance? Did he count them?

Mr. Speaker: Order, hon. Mutiso! First of all, you should have risen on a point of order and not on a
point of doubt. Next, for all of you, can we become relevant to this Bill? | want to draw the attention of the hon.
Members to the rules pertaining to relevance. So, Mr. Ndwiga, if you are not relevant to the Bill, at hand then |
am afraid | may have to discontinue your contribution. So, you have the first warning to be relevant to the Bill.

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, we are talking about---

Mr. Speaker: Order, Mr. Ndwiga! This is not a general debate. This Bill has clauses which you are
being asked to say whether they should become part of the Bill or not. So, can you be relevant? | think it is a
misguided notion that you can talk about misuse of public property. Every hon. Member has been given a copy of
this Bill and you are expected to intelligibly contribute to it. | think Kenyans are better off if we direct our debate
to the contents of the Bill.

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, in moving this Bill, the Minister told the House that the purpose of
establishing this authority is for the collection of taxes from Kenyans. The Minister said that the authority will
also monitor the use of the funds so collected. So, it is quite relevant to talk about misuse of money. | read
verbatim what the Minister said here in moving the Bill. What we are saying is that use of 250 policemen and 42
vehicles outside one household is immoral, wasteful and satanic. Here we also have the Value Added Tax (VAT)
Department. | would like the Minister to know this department is now popularly known by Kenyans as "very
annoying tax". The unfortunate thing about this tax is that many of the collectors, the Asians, do not remit it to
the authorities. That is one area which the Minister ought to look into. This Bill has come here at the wrong
time. We are asking the Attorney-General to give us a constitutional Bill, so that all these things can be discussed
within the context of a new constitutional order. That is why we want to oppose this Bill. Mr. speaker, Sir,
the monies being collected as tax are not landing in the right hands. Tax money in this country is being misused
for political purposes. | have in mind state visits where you see huge motorcades and as they drive along, school
children who sing are given Kshs50,000 each. Where is this money coming from? This is money which ought
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to go to the Ministry of Education, so that they subsidise school expenses and also help non-teaching staff in
schools. It is sinful to see tax money being dished out to buy political popularity. Misusing public funds is sinful
and satanic. | also wish to take issue with the composition of the board members of the proposed authority, most
of whom are civil servants. So far, this Government has been discredited in terms of fiscal management. We
would have liked to see a provision in the Bill that the Minister will interview professionals from outside the Civil
Service for Membership of this board. However, that will not be done because there is a silent Government policy
not to recruit Kikuyus and Luos and yet, they happen to be the people who are professionals in this area. It is
their---

The Assistant Minister for Finance (Mr. Keah): On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. Is hon.
Ndwiga in order to say that it is the official Government policy not to recruit Kikuyus in the Civil Service? Is he
in order to mislead this House and the nation with that kind of presentation?

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | sympathise with my friend, the Assistant Minister, because he is
also targeted and he does not know. | said: "Silent Government policy”. Which Kikuyu has been recruited?
They are only being sacked! Not one senior Kikuyu or Luo has been recruited in the Civil Service. They are
being sacked instead.

The Minister for Labour and Manpower Development (Mr. Masinde): On a point of order, Mr.
Speaker, Sir. Is the hon. Member in order to mislead this House? If anything, he is preaching tribalism instead
of discussing the Bill. Can he substantiate?

Mr. P. N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | think some of these things are to be ignored, because when you
hear a Minister like the hon. Minister for Labour and Manpower Development defending everybody else while
there is also an outcry in the Luhya camp where he comes from, you begin to wonder where we are going.

The Minister for Labour and Manpower Development (Mr. Masinde): On a point of order, Mr.
Speaker, Sir. Is it in order that the hon. Member should be given the opportunity to continue preaching tribalism
here and stating things that are not factual? Can he substantiate what outcry there is in Luhyaland?

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, this man will have to face the electorate back home and---

Mr. Speaker: Order, Mr. Ndwiga, order! You should know the rules by now. You will address the
Chair. You will not address a Member across the Floor and above all, you will use, in this House, civil language.

Proceed!

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Thank you, Mr. Speaker, Sir. Now, let us get back to the Bill.

The Assistant Minister for Finance (Mr. Keah): On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. My person
has been touched by hon. Ndwiga. He said | am targeted and | do not know about it. Can he substantiate how |
am targeted?

Hon. Members: You are targeted for promotion!

Mr. Speaker: Order! Order! This is why I said hon. Members must know what they are contributing
to and, hon. Ndwiga, you must know from now on that if you are going to be irrelevant, the targeting or otherwise
of the hon. Assistant Minister has nothing to do with this Bill. If you become irrelevant any more, | will have no
choice but to discontinue your speech.

Mr. P. N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, when people are targeted, they are supposed to take cover. Now,

QUORUM

Mr. Mutere: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. We do not seem to have a quorum in the House.
Mr. Speaker: Yes, it is true that we do not have a quorum. Can you ring the Division Bell?

(The Division Bell was rung)

Mr. Speaker: Order! We now have a quorum.  Proceed, Mr. Ndwiga.

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, the other issue which is causing concern to Kenyans is this Road
Maintenance Levy Fund. There is a big rumour which we want the Minister to touch on when he replies. We
want the Minister to assure Kenyans that the amount of money now collected through this levy--- the rumour is
that the money has been used---

Mr. Speaker: Order! Did you say "rumour"? | have ruled many times that rumour shall not be a
basis for debate in this House. Will you withdraw the use of the word "rumour" and proceed?

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | withdraw the word "rumour"” and substitute it with the words
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"unconfirmed reports". There are unconfirmed reports circulating in the country that part of this money is being
used to build the airport in Eldoret. We hope that the Minister, when replying, will touch on that because it is
rather serious. Our roads are impassable in this country. Even roads to hon. Mutiso's place are impassable and
he is on the wrong side of the House.

The Assistant Minister for Health (Mr. Mutiso): On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir.

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | want you to protect me from hon. Mutiso. He is going to face
the electorate back home if he does not join me to say that money must not go to Eldoret before roads in this
country are repaired, particularly those roads in Yatta. Of course, those roads in Yatta will only be repaired after
those in Runyenjes.

Mr. Speaker, Sir, on the issue of tax collection, it is common knowledge that the economy of this country
is not in the hands of indigenous Kenyans, and that the Asian business community does not pay tax according to
what they should pay. That they actually keep two sets of books is common knowledge. The Minister must find
a way of reaching these people who milk the country and send this money out of the country. At the end of the
day, the indigenous African is left to suffer lack of facilities in the country. The other area where Kenyans pay
other taxes is in levies like tea and coffee cess. While we are talking about management of tax money under
Income Tax, Value Added Tax (VAT) and the rest, these other funds are being misused all over the country.

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, in areas where farmers pay tea and coffee cess, it is only DCs who
determine the use of that money. A good example is in Embu where the former DC was a one man-tender
Committee. He would decide on who was to be given what tender. As a result, in Embu farmers have lost more
than Kshs15 million from the tea and coffee cess.

An. Hon. Member: Are you sure? Notwithstanding the intervention from hon. Mutiso---

Mr. Speaker: Mr. Ndwiga, ignore everybody and continue to address the Chair.

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Thank you, Mr. Speaker, Sir. We therefore, need total liberalisation of the
agricultural sector.  This, therefore, will mean that farmers will have a say in utilising whatever monies that they
pay in form of levies. Farmers would like the Board to sit and determine how the money is going to be used.
Right now, Kenya Tea Development Authority (KTDA) is on the verge of collapsing. Any minute from now, that
institution will go down. That is sad to imagine how much of the farmers money will go down with that
institution. It is painful and we want the
Government to address itself to this very serious issue. As some of these levies are paid through the Ministry of
Agriculture, Livestock Development and Marketing, the Ministry must be serious more than it is at present.
There is liberalisation in most other sectors except in the sectors of tea and coffee. We do not know why farmers
should be overtaxed and yet they are not being asked to run their own institutions. For example, what is the
relevance of the Coffee Board of Kenya?

Mr. Speaker, Sir, the last issue which | wish to touch on is accountability with regard to the funds
collected by this Authority. In the past and every other day as we ask questions in this House, the answer that we
continue to get always "When funds become available is:" Yet, we are seeing a lot of Government wastefulness in
terms of public expenditure.  So many vehicles are lying outside Afya House while we do not have ambulances
or vehicles to serve our hospitals and dispensaries. Kenyans would like to know how the monies collected by this
Authority are going to be spent.  They would like to see it being put into proper use. As to what parties Kenyans
belong is irrelevant. Kenyans are dying. They pay VAT and Income Tax in the morning and die in the evening
or the following day, due to lack of drugs and facilities in our health institutions.

Mr. Speaker Sir, we only hope that the very serious unconfirmed reports that our Government is hosting
Hutus in this country do not turn out to be true.

Mr. Keah: Mr. Speaker Sir, hon. P.N. Ndwiga is actually fond of making wild allegations which he
cannot substantiate. Can he substantiate that these Hutus are here and are being hosted by the Government to
some Departments in the country? Can he tell us how many they are and who they are?

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker Sir, yes, | did say that we have Hutus in this country who are being
hosted by this Government after they have killed their people back home. If the hon. Member wants
substantiation, | will bring it here on Thursday afternoon. He should also not forget that this is why this
Government has kicked out the Rwandan Ambassador after he complained about the complicity of this
Government in the murders taking place in Rwanda.

The Vice-President and Minister for Planning and National Development (Prof. Saitoti): Mr.
Speaker, Sir, the allegation by the hon. P.N. Ndwiga is an extremely serious one, namely that the Government is
hosting the Hutus who have committed mass murders. It is not enough for the hon. Member to tell this House
that he is going to substantiate that allegation on Thursday afternoon. The allegation is of serious and grave
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magnitude. It is important that the hon. Member substantiates today or withdraws---

Hon. Members: No! No!

The Vice-President and Minister for Planning and National Development (Prof. Saitoti): Mr.
Speaker, Sir, he should withdraw that allegation until he is ready to substantiate because it is a very serious
allegation.

Mr. Speaker: Order! In spite of my previous warnings to Mr. P.N. Ndwiga about non-sticking to the
subject, he has veered until he has got himself into a situation where he is being asked, in Accordance with
Standing Order No. 76 to substantiate an allegation. Your claim that you are going to do that on Thursday
afternoon is not acceptable to the Chair. 1 believe you have your brains with you here because Hutus are not
documents that you want to go and fetch. 1 also believe that you will not bring any Hutu to lay on the Table!
Since you have made that claim here and since you are being asked to substantiate, you must do it now or you
withdraw.

(Laughter)

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, yes, | understand the magnitude of the statement | have just made.
| agree with the Vice-President and Minister for Planning and National Development that this is a very serious

statement which is hurting Kenyans both locally and internationally. We are getting embarrassed with the
actions of this Government. Yes, Hutus are being hosted in this country by this Government to the total
embarrassment of every Kenyan because taxpayer's money is being used to sustain them both in Nairobi and in
Mombasa. As I said earlier on, I want to bring evidence to this House on Thursday, but evidence---

Mr. Speaker: Order, Mr. Ndwiga!. You have already heard my ruling.

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Yes, Mr. Speaker, Sir, part of my substantiation is in here.

(Mr. Ndwiga laid a paper on the Table)

And | will bring further substantion because | want every Kenyan to understand this matter.

Mr. Speaker, Sir, with those few words, | beg to---

Mr. Speaker: Order! | have not finished with you as yet. This is just a magazine you are laying on
this Table. It is not a legally authorised authority, neither is it a textbook nor a work of scientific recognition.
That is not a document in the view of the Chair, that you can lay on the Table to substantiate. You do not seem to
realise the gravity of this matter, and unless you do better, then I will probably ask you the easiest the way, that is,
to withdraw your statement and apologise.

Mr. Speaker: Order, Mr. Mwaura, | cannot have a point of order when | am dealing with an hon.
Member.

Mr. Mwaura: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir.

Mr. Speaker: Order, Mr. Mwaura! | have ruled that hon. P.N. Ndwiga has not satisfactorily
substantiated his allegation.

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | said earlier on that the hon. Member for Kajiado Central has an
equal status with me in this House and you agreed that | can substantiate on Thursday. | gave an undertaking---

Mr. Speaker: Order, Mr. Ndwiga! Since you are unable to substantiate---

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: | am not unable to substantiate. | have given an undertaking to---

Mr. Speaker: Order, Mr. Ndwiga! You have no business interjecting when | am speaking!

Mr. Nyanja: But he is an hon. Member!

Mr. Speaker: Because of that, Mr. Nyanja, you are disorderly and you must withdraw from this
Chamber under Standing Order No.88.

Mr. Nyanja: Mr. Speaker, Sir---

Mr. Speaker: Order Mr. Nyanja! You are now a stranger in this House.

Mr. Obwocha: Mr. Speaker, Sir---

Mr. Speaker: Order, we will have to see Mr. Nyanja out first.

(Mr. Nyanja withdrew from the Chamber)

Mr. Obwocha: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir.
Mr. Speaker: Order! | will have none of that, Mr. Obwocha. | have already told Mr. Ndwiga that |
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am not satisfied that he has substantiated his claim. | therefore order Mr. Ndwiga to withdraw and apologise.

Mr. P.N. Ndwiga: Mr. Speaker, Sir, it is unthinkable to withdraw the obvious. That is a statement of
fact.

Mr. Speaker: Very well. That being the position, and you having been asked to substantiate and in the
opinion of the Chair not being able to do so, and having refused to withdraw, | am afraid you will have to
withdraw from the Chamber for the balance of the day.

(Mr. P.N. Ndwiga withdrew from the Chamber)

Mr. Mwaura: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir.

Mr. Speaker: Order! Order! | am giving the Floor to Mr. Obwocha. We have finished that issue.
Let us now debate the Bill before the House.

Mr. Obwocha: Thank you, Mr. Speaker, Sir, for giving me this opportunity to also contribute very
briefly to this Bill. This is something we have been looking forward to, if Kenya has to survive. This is because
all along, the revenue collected from these three departments has been very unsatisfactory in the sense that when
the public has the view that money is coming, we do find that the Government at the other end is saying they do
not have the money and yet, these three departments exist to collect revenue from the taxpayers. First of all, |
would like to say that the Income Tax Department has a lot of problems in terms of the legislation that has been
brought to this House. We do remember that from the year 1989 when the Finance Act introduced the Value
Added Tax and---

Mr. Mwaura: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. With all due respect to the Chair and with regard
to the ruling the Chair has given regarding the earlier speaker---

Mr. Speaker: Order! Mr. Mwaura, you cannot revisit a ruling that | have made. Can you?

Mr. Mwaura: That is a very serious allegation and---

Mr. Speaker: Order! If you do wish to make that allegation and prove, you can do so when | give you
the Floor.

Mr. Mwaura: | do not want to prove it but it is---

Mr. Speaker: Order! Once I have punished a Member, | will not do anything about the matter again.

It is finished. | will not revisit that issue under any circumstances. A sentence has been metted out to the
Member and there is nothing else | can do about it. Continue, Mr. Obwocha!

QUORUM

Mr. Muite: On a point of order, Mr. Speaker, Sir. | am not sure the House has a quorum.

Mr. Speaker: | think I almost agree with you.

Mr. Muite: We are not sure that the Chair's conduct is not contributing to the lack of quorum.

Mr. Speaker: Hey! Order! What are you saying, Mr. Muite?

Mr. Muite: Mr. Speaker, Sir, | noticed many hon. Members walking out when you gave your ruling and
SO---

Mr. Speaker: Order, Mr. Muite! | quite honestly would like you, Mr. M